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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
AT GREENEVILLE

PEGGYROBERSON, )
P aintiff,
V. NO.:2:12-CV-168

LVNV FUNDING, LLC, ET AL,

Al T SR

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

This Fair Debt Collection Practicesct (‘FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692t seq, case is
before the Court on plaintiff's Motion for Patt@ummary Judgment, [Doc. 57], and defendants’
Motion for Summary Judgment, [Dog0]. Plaintiff argues that thelis no genuine issue for trial
regarding whether the Defendant LVNV FundibgC (“LVNV”) violated the FDCPA when it
filed a state court lawsuit without being licensesia debt collection service in Tennessee. In
defendants’ motion, defendant§/ NV, Tobie Griffin (“Griffin”), and Nathan & Nathan, PC
(“Nathan”) (collectively “defendast) seek dismissal of all of @intiff's claims arising under the
FDCPA for failure to create genuimgsues of material fact. Bgonses have been filed, [Docs.
67 and 69], and the matters are ripe for reviéwar the reasons stated below, the plaintiff's
motion is DENIED, and the defendants’ motion is GRANTED.
|. BACKGROUND

It is undisputed that the plaintiff had @&s credit card account in which Citibank was
the original creditor. The plaintiff stoppedyirdgy on the account. The account was transferred

to LVNV in 2007. At the time of the transfer, the amount owing was $1,291.97. LVNV placed
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the account with Resurgent Capital Services, (IResurgent”), which manages and services
delinquent accounts. Resurgent hired Nathdawafirm licensed in Tenessee, to collect the
debt for LVNV.*

On May 1, 2010, a collection letter was sent ® phaintiff. Natharsent other letters on
October 22, 2010, and January 27, 2011. The plamger disputed the debt with Nathan in
writing. On May 25, 2011, Nathan filed a collectiamvsuit in state cotiron behalf of LVNV.
Attached to the civil warrant vgaan affidavit of sworn accountgsied by Griffin, an authorized
representative of LVNV. Tdawarrant sought a money judgmién the amount of “$1,291.97,
plus Attorney’s fees of $0.00, plus intere$t$515.91, for a Total Judgment of $1,807.88, plus
continuing interest and costs of court.” The affitlatated that as of the date of assignment, the
plaintiff owed “$1,291.97 plus anydditional accrued interest.”

The plaintiff filed a sworn denial in state couit.stated, “I do not believe that | owe any
money to LVNV Funding LLC.” Then, the stateitswas non-suited. The plaintiff filed this
federal action in thi€ourt on April 20, 2012.

The plaintiff alleges that éhdefendants violated sevepabvisions of the FDCPA by:

(1) using any false, deceptive, or misleading misrepresentation or
means in connection with the collection of any debt, 15 U.S.C. §

1692¢;

(2) falsely representing the “clater, amount, or legal status”
of the debts, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A);

(3) threatening to take any action that cannot legally be taken
or that is not intended to ltaken, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(5);

! Plaintiff's counsel has disputed this fact in this atiter similar cases. However, for the reasons statSdlig v.

LVNV Funding, LLC, et gl2:11-CV-355, any dispute over this facwighout merit. In addition, in other similar

cases, the relationship of LVNV, Resurgent and the law firm hired to collect on the debt is explained in James Barto
Lloyd's deposition. He stated that the law firm esgEnts LVNV through their Bdcing agent, Resurgent.
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(4) communicating to any person credit information which
is known or which should be kmm to be false, 15 U.S.C. §
1692¢e(8);

(5) using a false representation or deceptive means in an
attempt to collect the debts, 15 U.S.C. § 1692¢e(10);

(6) failing to disclose in an fitial communication” that the debt
collector is attempting to colleet debt and that any information
obtained will be used for that purgEy and failing to disclose in a
subsequent communication thaé tbtommunication is from a debt
collector, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11);

(7) using unfair or unconsciona&bimeans to collect or attempt to
collect a debt, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f; and

(8) collection of any amount neluding interest, fees, etc.)

unless such amount was exprgsalthorized by the agreement

creating the debt or is permittdy law, 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).
Plaintiff also asserts that LVNV is liable fdre acts and omissions Rhathan and Griffin under
the theory ofespondeat superior

This Court admits that it has been diffictdtdiscern the actual claims and arguments put
forth by the plaintiff. Perhaps due to the diffity in understanding the Complaint and plaintiff's
filings, defendants’ filings have likewise not bearmodel of clarity. Considering the entire
record and the specifics listed above, this Court will address the following issues:

1. Whether defendants violated varioustises of the FDCPA by their routine practice
of filing a state lawsuit allegegllhaving demonstrated no intention of litigating the case on the
merits?;

2. Whether defendants violatgdrious sections of the FIPA by supporting their state
court collection action with an affidavit thats allegedly not based on personal knowledge?;

3. Whether defendants violated the FDCIBAcommunicating credit information which

was allegedly known to be false or should be known to be false?;



4. Whether defendants violatedrious sections of the FDCPA due to the warrant and
affidavit listing “inconsistent” amounts?;

5. Whether defendants violated varioustises of the FDCPA because the warrant and
affidavit requested interest and attorney’s feasd the defendants have allegedly failed to
produce a contract allowing for such collection?;

6. Whether defendants violate@rious sections of thEDCPA because the specific
interest rates stated in the warrant, affidavig ather filings in the case were different (not
specifically addressed byaphtiff in Response)?;

7. Whether defendants violatesgiction 1692e(11) for farg to include the requisite
language in the Sworn Affid&vnot specifically addressday plaintiff in Response)?;

8. Whether LVNV is required to havestate collection service license?; and

9. Whether there is an issue of fact relgeg vicarious liability (not specifically
addressed by plaintiff in Response)?

The Court will discuss each issue in turteasetting forth the standard of review.
[I. STANDARD OF REVEW

The summary judgment standard is weltledt Summary judgment is proper whéttee

pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materiale@rand any affidavitshow that there is no

genuine issue of material faahd that the movant ientitled to judgment as a matter of law.

2 The warrant and affidavit do not actuasigek attorney’s fees. However, theiptiff argues as if they did in her
Response. Thus, this Court will address the issue irstefmequested interest onlyFor a discussion regarding
attorney’s feesee Lorinda Smith v. LVNV Funding, LLC, et Blo. 2:11-CV-379, 2014 WL 3810633 (E.D. Tenn.
Aug. 1, 2014).
% The plaintiff alleges issues six, seven and nine inG@mplaint. Technically, these three claims are waived
because of the failure to address them in the Responséhasdthe failure to carry the burden to show there is a
genuine issue for trial. However, becatisese issues have been raised in related cases and closely relate to other
issues regarding collection amounts, thei€will address them in further detail.

The Complaint also alleges another issue not addressed in the Response. The plaintiff claims that the
defendants violated the FDCPA for violating Tennessee Code Annotated section 62-20{Ix&al, 11 83, 11-
115]. This issue is not developed at all. Therefore, the plaintiff has failed miserably to shdwerthag & genuine
issue for trial, and the Court will not address it further.erkif this Court did address the issue on the merits, this
Court would find in favor of defendants.

4



Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). In ruling on a motitor summary judgment, the Court must view the
facts contained in the record aalll inferences that can be dnavirom those facts in the light
most favorable to the non-moving partylatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co475
U.S. 574, 587 (1986)Nat! Satellite Sports, Inc. v. Eliadis, Inc253 F.3d 900, 907 {6Cir.
2001). The Court cannot weigh thadmance, judge the credibility of witnesses, or determine the
truth of any matter in disputéAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

The moving party bears the initial burden dagmonstrating that no genuine issue of
material fact exists.Celotex Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). To refute such a
showing, the non-moving party must present ssiggificant, probative evidence indicating the
necessity of a trial for resolvj a material factual disputeld. at 322. A mere scintilla of
evidence is not enougtAnderson477 U.S. at 2524 cClain v. Ontario, Ltd.244 F.3d 797, 800
(6th Cir. 2000). This Coui role is limited to determining vether the case contains sufficient
evidence from which a jury could reamably find for the non-moving partyAnderson477 U.S.
at 248-49;Nat! Satellite Sports253 F.3d at 907. |If the non-moving party fails to make a
sufficient showing on an essential element otése with respect to which it has the burden of
proof, the moving party is engttl to summary judgment.Celotex 477 U.S. at 323. If this
Court concludes that a fair-minded jury could neturn a verdict in favor of the non-moving
party based on the evidence presented, it may enter a summary judgmeetson477 U.S. at
251-52;Lansing Dairy, Inc. v. Espyd9 F.3d 1339, 1347 {Cir. 1994).

The party opposing a Rule 56 motion may swhply rest on the mere allegations or
denials contained in the padypleadings. Anderson 477 U.S. at 256. Instead, an opposing
party must affirmatively present competent evide sufficient to establish a genuine issue of

material fact necessitating the trial of that isslee. Merely alleging that a factual dispute exists



cannot defeat a properly supportedtion for summary judgmentid. A genuine issue for trial
is not establisheldy evidence that iSmerely colorablé,or by factual disputethat are irrelevant
or unnecessaryld. at 248-52.

Regarding the FDCPA, it was passed limimate “abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt
collection practices.”Barany-Snyder v. Weineb39 F.3d 327, 332 (6th Cir. 2008) (quoting 15
U.S.C. 8 1692(a)). The Sixth Circuit has noted thatact is “extraordinagilbroad” and must be
enforced as written, even when eminently sdaséxceptions are proposéd the face of an
innocent and/ode minimisviolation. See Frey v. Gangwisi®70 F.2d 1516, 1521 (6th Cir.
1992). While § 1692e lists a number of examplefglst or misleading representations, the text
of the statute itself indicates that the examplesnot meant to limit its prohibition on the use of
false, deceptive or misleading representations in connection with the collection of a debt. 15
U.S.C. § 1692e. Likewise, § 169@bntains the same language king clear that the examples
set forth therein do not “limit[ ] the general aaliion” of its prohibitionon the use of unfair or
unconscionable means to collect or attempt tiecoany debt. 15 U.E. § 1692f. The Seventh
Circuit recently obsergkthat the phrase “unfair or uncormtable” used in § 1692f “is as vague
as they come.”Beler v. Blatt, Hasenmiller, Leibsker & Mo@réd80 F.3d 470, 474 (7th Cir.
2007).

In assessing whether particular conduct ate$¢ the FDCPA, cotg apply “the least
sophisticated consumer” test to objectively deiae whether that consumer would be misled.
Harvey v. Great Seneca Fin. Corpt53 F.3d 324, 329 (6th Cir. 200@mith v. Transworld
Systems, Inc.953 F.2d 1025, 1029 (6th Cir. 9®). The least sophisticated consumer test is
designed “to ensure that the FDCPA protectea@tisumers, the gullible as well as the shrewd.”

Kistner v. Law Offices of Michael P. Margelefsky, L1518 F.3d 433, 4386th Cir. 2008)



(quotations and citation omitted). In additidfalse but non-material representations are not
likely to mislead the least sophisticated aansr and therefore are not actionable under 88
1692e or 1692f."Clark v. Lender Processing Sys.Fed. App. --, 2014 WL 1408891, at *6 (6th
Cir. Ap. 14, 2014) (citind>onohue v. Quick Collect, Inc592 F.3d 1027, 1033 (9th Cir. 2010)).

The issues below are addressgaplying this standard. This is an objective test that
asks whether there is a reasonable likelihood that an unsophisticated consumer who is willing to
consider carefully the contents of anmounication might yet be misled by the@rden v. Leikin
Ingber & Winters PC643 F.3d 169, 172 (6th Cir. 2011). Tkast sophisticated consumer “can
be presumed to possess a rudimentary amounfamation about the world and a willingness
to read a collection nice with some care.Colomon v. Jacksord88 F.2d 1314, 1319 (2d Cir.
1993).
lll. ANALYSIS *

A. Whether defendants violated varioussections of the FDCPA by their routine

practice of filing a state lawsiit allegedly having demonstratedno intention of litigating the
case on the merits?

* Throughout the Analysis section, this Court reliessexeral cases. These cases are summarized in previous
opinions issued by this Court. Skerinda Smith v. LVNV Funding, LLC, et.,aNo. 2:11-CV-379, 2014 WL
3810633 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 1, 2014) amaadford v. LVNV Funding, LLC et ak- F.Supp.2d --, 2014 WL 1012771
(E.D. Tenn. Feb. 25, 2014), for these summartese alscClark v. Main Street Acquisition CordNo. 13-3763, --
Fed. Appx. --, 2014 WL 274469 {&Cir. Jan. 17, 2014Murr v. Tarpon Financial CorporationNo. 3:10-CV-372,
Doc. 52 (February 10, 2014) (Collier, Mfthite v. Sherman Financial Group, LLE F. Supp. 2d --, 2013 WL
5936679 (E.D. Tenn. Nov. 4, 2013) (Varlan, C.Raceday Center, LLC v. RL BB Financial, LLNXlb. 2:11-CV-
117, 2013 WL 4500437 (E.D. Tenn. August 21, 2013) (Gree illy);v. RAB Performance Recoveries, LLNb.
2:12-CV-364, 2013 WL 4010257 (E.D. Tenn. August 5, 2013) (Varlan, QRabhjnson v. Sherman Financial
Group, -- F. Supp. 2d --, 2013 WL 3968446 (E.Denn. July 31, 2013) (Collier, J.R¢binsonll); Lilly v. RAB
Performance Recoveries, LL®lo. 2:12-CV-364, 2013 WL 3834008, at *1 (E.D. Tenn. Jul. 23, 2013) (Varlan,
C.J.); VFC Partners 10, LLC v. Cindy J. Collindlo. 3:12-CV-291 (E.D. Tenn. June 7, 2013) (Bunning, J.);
Robinson v. Sherman Financial Grouyo. 2:12-CV-030 (E.D. Tenn. March 27, 2013) (Collier, Rplfinson );

King v. Midland Funding, LLCNo. 2:11-CV-120 (E.D. Tenn. August 30, 2012) (Greer, Sojith v. LVNV
Funding, LLG 894 F. Supp. 2d 1045 (E.D. Tenn. 2012) (Greer,Shjith v. LVNV Funding, LLNo. 2:11-CV-
288, Doc. 46, July 14, 2012 (Inman, M.Bmith v. Accounts Research, |ndo. 3:10-CV-213, 2012 WL 289835,
at*1 (E.D. Tenn. Jan. 31, 2012) (Varlan, C.3tphnecypher v. Finkelstein Kern Steinberg & Cunninghdon 2:11-
CV-13, 2011 WL 3489685, at *1 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 9, 2011) (Mattice, J.).
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The defendants move for summary judgmesgarding causes of action under several
FDCPA sections related to defendgriiling of the civil warrant andiffidavit. The plaintiff first
argues that the defendants had no intention of prgghie merits of the setourt case and that
collection agencies cannot use ttwairt system for debt colleota through the filing of lawsuits
having demonstrated no intention of litigating gnesises on the merits. Doing so, the plaintiff
claims, violates Title 15 United States Coslections 1692e, 1692e(5), and 1692¢(10). The
plaintiff alleges that the defeants purchase debt and théle the state court suit before
properly reviewing any documents received ansebthe suit on affidavits that are signed by
affiant without any personal knovdge of whether the consumer w@adty incurred the debt. If
the consumer challenges the debt, then tHendants non-suit their state court action. The
plaintiff claims that this is the defendants’ pattern of practice, for the defendants non-suited in
the state court all of the cases before this Court that were consolidated with this case for
discovery purposes. Thus, the plaintiff claims thathe defendants’ business practices are
deceptive and misleading to thea$¢ sophisticated consumerviiolation of the FDCPA. For
these contentions, the plaintiff relies upBamuels v. Midland Funding, LL.@21 F.Supp.2d
1321 (S.D. Ala. 2013) andVNV Funding, LLC v. MastgWNo. M2011-00990-COA-R3-CV,
2012 WL 1534785 (Tenn. Ct. App. Apr. 30, 2012).

This Court agrees with Judge Varlan’s reasoning/hite v. Sherman Financial Group,
LLC, et al, -- F.Supp.2d --2013 WL 5936679, at *5 (E.DTenn. Nov. 4, 2013), a case

virtually identical to the one at hand, that the relianc&amuelsis misplaced.Samuelglealt

® Plaintiff's counsel asserts in an affidavit that this patteas happened “in no less than twenty state court collection
actions in which LVNV was the named Plaintiff.” [Doc. 6]/-3This Court consolidated this action with 13 other
FDCPA actions pending in this Court for discovery purposes. It may be that the defendasugeatbthe state

court cases in the other 13 cases pending before this Court and in other cases not pending in this Coart, Howe
the plaintiff has not pointed this Court to any documentation to that effect. Furthermore, the plantdt haked

the Court to take judicial notice of that fact based on tberdein other cases. As syche record in this case only
shows plaintiff's counsel's assertion to “twenty stataurt collection actions in which LVNV was the named
Plaintiff.” This assertion, without morgs not evidence of a pattern of practice.
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with a motion under Rule 12(b)(6h@ not Rule 56. Also, unlike iBamuelsthe defendants here
attached a sworn affidavit to thestate court suit, evidencing artent to pursue the action. In
addition, the only possible evidence in the regoothted to by plaintiff to support her claims
that this is a pattern of prac#i is plaintiff's counsel’s affidavwhich alleges this has been done
in several other cases in whi¢te is involved. No other faxtor evidencdo support this
allegation was contained this case’s record.

This mere scintilla of evidence is neithenasisible nor enough to €ate a genuine issue
of material fact. Rule 56(c) states, in pargttaffidavits in the summary judgment context must
be based on admissible evidence and made bgffeamt competent to testify on the matters
contained in the affidavit. The affidavit filed here mets neither requirementSee Moore v.
Holbrook 2 F.2d 697 (8 Cir. 1993). Even if it were admissé, plaintiff's counsel’s testimony
that LVNV has voluntarily dismissed “no lessathtwenty state courtollections actions in
which LVNV was the named plaintiff” does not cteaa genuine issue of material fact as to
whether LVNV engaged in a patteand practice of filing state ad collection lawsuits without
any intent to pursue the action. In addition, there is no evidence in this record of defendants’
intent to hire Nathan to file suit on LVNV’s behalf without the iniemtof following through
with the action.

B. Whether defendants violated various s#ions of the FDCPA by supporting their
state court collection action with an affidavi that was allegedly not based on personal
knowledge?;

The plaintiff's claim that the defendants \d@téd various sections of the FDCPA because
the affidavit was misleading because it waslased on personal knowledge also faN&astaw
is not persuasive as to the dHvit’s alleged misleading naturélastawwas not a FDCPA case,

and it decided only whether affidavits wepeoperly admitted under the business records



exception to the hearsay rul&eeTenn. R. Evid. 803(6). Plaintiélleges that the affidavit was
made without sufficient personal knowledge. Huwere the plaintiff has presented no evidence
that the allegations in ¢haffidavit as to the amount of thebdere false or misleading. Again,
this Court finds/Nhitepersuasive and relies on isasoning. 2013 WL 5936679, at *5.

In addition, a recent Sixth Circuit opinion dooplaintiff's claim thatGriffin’s affidavit
in the state court collection action was falad aisleading because it was not based on personal
knowledge. See Clark v. Main Street Acquisition CorNo. 13-3763, -- Fed. Appx. --, 2014 WL
274469 (8 Cir. January 17, 2014). In the affida@riffin states that she has “personal
knowledge” of LVNV’'s business records “including computer records of its accounts
receivables,” and those records include recgmawvided by the originatreditor to LVNV.
[Doc. 1-3]. The plaintiff claims that this\gs the false impressionahGriffin has personal
knowledge of the affidavit's fac@nd that the records were LVN&/and the original creditor’s
properly authenticated documents.

In Clark, the plaintiff made these same claims wélard to a very similar affidavit. The
Sixth Circuit disagreed, stating,The affiant’s] claims of persoh&nowledge referred to Main
Street’s business records, whittcluded the original lender’'s records. Such a statement is
permitted by the [FDCPA].” 2014 WL 274469 at *&uch an affidavit is not “inaccurate or
misleading,” and, even if it was, the “represéinta was still not mateail” because the “least
sophisticated consumer understands that leraieiisdebt collectors will by necessity have to
rely on business records they may have personally created . . 1d.

C. Whether defendants violated the BCPA for communicating credit information
which was allegedly known to be false or should be known to be false?

The plaintiff alleges that the defendantslated 1692e(8). [Doc. 1, 11 44 and 67]. The

plaintiff alleges the defendantommunicated false or misleading information or information
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they should have known to be false in the wareard affidavit to the ate court, the general
public and the plaintiff. The plaintiff addressthe 1692e(8) issue in one sentence and then in
one paragraph in her Response. The issue idevaioped at all but merely mentioned, and the
Response fails to address anythingafic. It states general legafinciples and sing citations

not tied to the specific facts in this case. Thhe plaintiff has failed to carry her burden to
show there is a genuingsue of fact for trial.

D. Whether defendants violated various ections of the FDCPA due to the warrant
and affidavit listing “inc onsistent” amounts?

The plaintiff argues in essence that theoants listed in the warrant and affidavit are
inconsistent, and, thus, one false or misleading in vioteon of sections 1692e, 1692f and
various other subsections. Amted above, the warrant staties amount due is “$1,291.97, plus
Attorney’s fees of $0.00, plus interest $615.91, for a Total Judgent of $1,807.88, plus
continuing interest and costs of court.” The affitlatated that as of the date of assignment, the
plaintiff owed “$1,291.97 pluany additional accruddterest.”

The principal amounts are the same. Thusy thre not inconsistent. The affidavit
merely states the principal amount “plus anyitoigal accrued interest is due.” The warrant
states a specific amount for interest. Howevas, dimount is not incongent with the affidavit
because the affidavit does not kstecific amounts. It merely ségtthat additional interest will
accrue. As for attorney’s fees and costs, itus that the affidavit does not state those are due
and owing. It does not state as such becausg lthve not yet accrued. Thus, there is no
inconsistency regarding atteey’s fees and costs. Moreoveagtstlaw allows collection of costs.
SeeTenn. Code Ann. § 20-12-101 (20£1llowing for the collection ofosts); Tenn. R. Civ. P.

54.04(1) (same)ee also Clark2014 WL 274469, at *3\White 2013 WL 5936679, at *6. Just

® The Court will use the 2011 version of the Tennessee Code Annotated because the state suit was filed on April 14,
2011.
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because the warrant lists costs and the affidies not, does not make them inconsistent when
costs are amounts that dagally be collected. The least sigiltated consumer would not find
this false or misleading. This conclusiontiie same conclusion reached by Judge Varlan in
Whitg 2013 WL 5936679 at *6. Again, this Courhds no issue of fact for the alleged
violations of 1692e, 1692f and theriaus subsections thereunder.

E. Whether defendants violated variousections of the FDCPA because the warrant
and affidavit requested interest and attorney’dees and the defendants have allegedly failed
to produce a contract allowing for such collection?

The plaintiff also argues that the defent$ahave violated the FDCPA because the
warrant and affidavit requestedenest and attorney’s fees and have failed to produce a contract
which allows for such collectionThe Court finds the reasoning \hite persuasive as well on
the issue of interesid. There, Judge Varlan found “plaiffis argument that defendant failed to
show evidence of an agreement permitting the 10&¢ast rate unavailing in light of the statute
which provides for this rate.Td. It is undisputed that Tennesdaw allows for the collection of
pre- and post- judgment interesBeeTenn. Code Ann. § 47-14-121, -123 (2011). Thus, the
contract need not be produced stating timkrest may be collected since Tennessee law
specifically allows for such collectionSee Clark2014 WL 274469, at *3-4A\Vhite 2013 WL
5936679, at *6.

As stated above, the warrant and affidavit i ask for attorney’s fees despite the
plaintiff's vague argument in her Response. As such, the Court need not address the issue.

Furthermore, it is the plaintiff's burden torne forth with evidence to show that there is
a genuine issue of material fact for trial regagdwhether the contract allowed for interest or

attorney’s feed. A conclusory argument by counselrist evidence, and the plaintiff may not

" In reality, it appears that plaintiff attempts to shift the burden of proof on this issue. Plaintiff has the burden of
establishing, as an element of her céisat a contract exists or that the contract does not provide for the interest or
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simply rest on mere allegations denials contained in her pleadingénderson 477 U.S. at
256. Instead, she must affirmadly present competent evidencéfisient to establish a genuine
issue of material fact necessitg the trial of that issueld. A genuine issue for trial is not
established by evidence thatmserely colorablé. Id. at 248-52. She has produced no evidence;
she merely argues that there isissue of fact because defendahave not produced a contract.
There is no evidence from the plaintiff that she it agree to pay interest or attorney’s fees in
case of a defaultSee Clark2014 WL 274469, at *4.

For these reasons, this Court finds that thereo genuine issue of material fact as to
whetherdefendants violated various sections a¢ #HDCPA because the warrant and affidavit
requested interest, even though the defendamns faled to produce a contract allowing for
such collection.SeeClark, 2014 WL 274469, at *3-AVhite 2013 WL 5936679, at *Gee also
Murr, 2014 WL 546690, at *9-13.

F. Whether defendants violated various s#ions of the FDCPA because the specific
interest rates stated in the warrant, affidavit, and other filings in the case were different?

The plaintiff never addresses this argumenhér Response. Therefore, the issue is
waived, and she has failed to carry herdem. The plaintiff did, however, refer Robinsonin
her Responsegs Robinson v. Sherman Financial GrpoepF. Supp. 2d --, 2013 WL 3968446,
at *1 (E.D. Tenn. July 31, 2013) (dier, J.), and plaintiff's counsdias raised thissue in other
similar cases in which he is involved. Thus, the Court will address it, but briefly.

As stated above, this Courinéls that the warrant and affivit do not list different
interest rates. Actually, the affidavit does not list a specific interest rate at all. Therefore, the

interest rates are notdansistent or misleading. Furtherrapthe plaintiff never mentioned the

attorney’s fees claimed. It is not thefendants’ burden to show the contraBo far as the Court can tell, plaintiff
did not submit a request for document production or interrogatory to defendant nor anyfarcaasission on the
contract terms. Plaintiff simply hopes to get before a jury on conclusory and speculative allegations with
providing evidence. She is not permitted to do so.
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collection letters’ amounts, thetarest rates of billing statenmtsn or the account event history
interest rate as a basis for i@sue of fact as tahy the interest amounsught in the warrant

and affidavit are misleading in any of the previdilisgs. As such, this Court will not rely upon
those as evidence that the amaoufrinterest soughin the warrant is false or misleadifig.

G. Whether defendants violated section 1692e(11) for failing to include the requisite
language in the Sworn Affidavit?

Initially, this Court notes that the plaintiffifad to address this issue in her Response.
Therefore, she has failed to carry her burderstiow there is an issue of fact for trial.
Nonetheless, the Court will adgs the issue on the merits.

Section 1692e(11) of the FDCPA requsirghat all communications which occur
subsequent to the initial communication contasdisclosure “that the communication is from a
debt collector.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). Howevkis disclosure is not required to be included
in formal pleadings.d.

In Tennessee, parties seeking to colledelt may file an dmn on a sworn accourgee
Am. Exp. Bank, FSB v. Fitzgibbor#62 S.W. 3d 93, 96 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2011). Tennessee law
requires that actions on a sworn account be brougtit ‘am affidavit of the plaintiff or its agent
as to [the account’s] correctnésslenn. Code Ann. § 24-5-107(a)laintiff claimsthat failure
to include the disclosure that the communicaticinas1 a debt collector on the affidavit attached
to the civil warrant violates § 1692e(11). Defendamtgie that the affidavit is part of the formal
pleading required by the Tennessee statuteimvakes the “formal pleading” exception of §
1692e(11). The Court agreegh the defendants.

The civil warrant and affidaviare the mechanism through iain a debt collection action

is initiated on a sworn account in the general saesscourt in Tennessee. In other words, the

8For detailed discussion on this issue segnda Smith v. LVNV Funding, LLC, et,aNo. 2:11-CV-379, 2014 WL
3810633 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 1, 2014).
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civil warrant and affidavit together constituteetformal pleading in general sessions court. To
find otherwise, as urged by plaifit would conflict with the proedure established by statute in
Tennessee and result in a norsseal nullification of the fomal pleading exceptionSee Lilly v.
RAB Performance Recoveries, LLZD13 WL 3834008 at * 7 (E.D. Tenn. July 23, 20ke
also White v. Sherman Financial Grqu913 WL 5936679 (E.D. Tenn. Nov. 4, 2013).

H. Whether LVNV is required to have a state collection service license?

The defendants also move for summary jadgt on plaintiff's claim based on LVNV'’s
failure to obtain a license ascollection service under Tennes$a®, in violation of sections
1692e(5), 1692f and 1692f(1). LVNV allegesatha license is not required, relying on the
opinion of the Tennessee Collect Service Board (“the Bodf) through the issuance of a
“Clarification Statement” by the Board innlaary 2009 and reaffirmely the Board in May
2012 that certain “passive” debt buyers are not deemed a collection service by the Board.

The Tennessee Collection Service Act (SA&) provides that “[n]Jo person shall
commence, conduct or operateyatollection service business this state unless the person
holds a valid collection service license issuedhgyboard under [the TC3Ar prior state law.”
Tenn.Code Ann. § 62-20-105(a).ecBon 103 provides an exception for attorneys and those
entities who are collecting solebn those debts incurred the normal course of businesd. §

62—-20-103° The TCSA defines “collection service” as follows:

°®  The Board, which has been delegated authority to promulgate rules concerningltizt ebeollection services,

seeTenn. Code Ann. § 62-20-115(b)(1), does not appear to have been acting under its rulemaking authotity when i
issued the Clarification Statemdmnit rather offering the Board’s “collective opinion on the subje&¢€e King v.
Midland Funding LLC No. 2:11-CV-120 (E.D. Tenn. Aug. 30, 2012).

% The Tennessee Legislature has since amendeskittisn to include more exceptions including:

(9) Any person that holds or acquires accounts, bills or other forms of indebtedness through

purchase, assignment, or otherwise; and only engages in collection activity through the use of a
licensed collection agency or an attornethatized to practice law in this state.
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. any person that engages arm, attempts to engage in, the

collection of delinquent accountsbills or other forms of

indebtedness irrespective of whet the person engaging in or

attempting to engage in collection activity has received the

indebtedness by assignment whether the indebtedness was

purchased by the person engaging in, or attempting to engage in,

the collection activity.
Tenn.Code Ann. 8§ 62-20-102(3). $mith v. LVNV Funding, LL394 F.Supp.2d 1045, 1049
(E.D. Tenn. 2012) (Greer, J.), this Court held tinet failure to obtain the necessary licensing
could give rise to a FDCPA violation for threatening and/or taking legal action which it was not
authorized to do, relying dreBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partner801 F.3d 1185 (f1Cir. 2010).
Neither party disputes that theck of a necessary license couldegrise to an FDCPA violation.
The issue presented here is rather simplesirteitms, i.e., is LVNV required to have a state
collection service licese? If the answer to this simple question is “no,” then there can be no
FDCPA violation, and LVNV is entitled to summajydgment. The resolution of this simple
guestion has been anything but simple, howevet,hes been the subjexdtopinions by at least
four district judges in this judial district, leading to a somewhconfusing set of opinions and
what, on the surface, appears to be some d@isaggnt among the judges. This Court discussed
those opinions at length Bradford v. LVNV Funding, LLC et ak- F.Supp.2d --, 2014 WL
1012771 (E.D. Tenn. Feb. 25, 2014), and will not do sonagatie. Likewise, this Court will not
summarize again the Board’'s Clarédtion Statement that has péalya role in many of those
decisions. In addition, the Court thought it apprdpria require the parsein one of the related

case’' to address this issue raised by referendedanguage of the TCSiself, rather than

focusing on the Clarification StatemeBeeBradford v. LVNV Funding, LLC, et aR:11-CV-

Tenn. Code Ann. 8 62-20-103(a)(9) (2014). However, this mad in effect at the time of this suit, and this Court
must apply the law in effect at that time. Therefore, @ourt will provide its analysis of the situation when the
state case was filed in 2011.

1 Plaintiffs in all these related casee represented by the same attorneys.
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291. The parties filed those briefs, [Docs. 18£3] and filed responses, [Docs. 145,146]. This
Court has considered those argunts in deciding this case.

The facts in this case are undisputed. LVNV is an asset holding company and owns
accounts receivable, such as ptdi’'s account in this caseTypically, LVNV acquires charged-
off consumer debts from one of two entities: e@han Originator or Sheran Originator Ill.
These entities purchase accounts famginal creditors, lenders, drother debt buyers. Here it
is unclear whether Sherman Originator or Sheri@aiginator Il purchaed plaintiff's charged-
off account from the original creditor and tragrséd the account to LVNV. It is undisputed,
however, that the debt wasansferred to LVNV in 2007.LVNV has no employees, does not
send collection letters, and doed nwake telephone ta to debtors.LVNV does report credit
information to the three major credit reporting agenties.

The plaintiff does not dpute the following fact§ All collection activities on the
charged-off accounts are undertaken by Resurgetitensed collection agency. Resurgent
services and manages the LVNV accounts eithiiexctly or through other licensed collection
agencies or law firms. Resurgent hired Natlaataw firm licensed in Tennessee, to collect on
plaintiffs account. Nathan deles which collection activitieto undertake and determines
whether to ultimately file suit. LVNV plays no roile these decisions. In this case, Nathan filed
the civil warrant and affidavibf indebtedness and ownershipaafcount, prepared and signed by
LVNV’s authorized representative, in the GmaleSessions Court, naming plaintiff as the

defendant and LVNV, assignee, as pldintThe lawsuit was later non-suited.

2 This information was admitted to Bradford In Bradford this fact was established by LVNV’s response to
plaintiff's request for admission on July 29, 2013, [Doc. 146-2], the deposition @estiof Tonya Henderson on
June 26, 2013 notwithstanding. The reporting is actirhdled by Resurgent Capital Services. [See Doc. 142-2
at 29].

13 plaintiff's counsel has disputed these facts in thisaher similar cases. Howevéoy the reasons stated $ells

v. LVNV Funding, LLC, et al2:11-CV-355, any dispute over these facts is without merit.
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The TCSA requires a collection servitieense before any person may “commence,
conduct or operate” a “collection servicesmess.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 62-20-105(a).
“Collection service” is broadly dmed as “engag[ing] in, or attempt[ing] to engage in, the
collection of delinquent accounts . . .,” redass of whether the person “engaging in, or
attempting to engage in collection activity’gared the indebtedness by assignment or by

purchase. Tenn. Code Ann. § 62-20-102{3)e definition specifically includes:

(D) Any person who engages time solicitation of claims

or judgments for the purpose of collecting or attempting to collect

claims or judgments or who satie the purchase of claims or

judgments for the purpose of caiting or attempting to collect

claims or judgments by engaging am attempting to engage in

collection activity relativeo claims or judgments.
Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 62-20-102(3)(D) Neither “colien” nor “collection ativity” is defined in
the Act.

It appears beyond dispute that LVNV is @dk entity which purchases accounts or
judgments for the purpose of collecting or miding to collect them. LVNV argues, however,
that it does not “engage” in “collection” or “collection activity.” More specifically, LVNV
argues that it does not invel itself, or take paiin, the act of collecting,e., securing payment,
but rather that all collection/collection activits undertaken by others, namely, Resurgent, a
licensed collection agency, which services and manages all of LVNV&aisc Plaintiff first
made a halfhearted responséBradford that the statute does notjtére that a person “engage”

in collection activity but also includes thoséhav“engage[ ] in the solicitation of claims or

judgments for the purpose of collecting or atténgpto collect claims ojudgments.” [Doc. 146
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at 1]!* Plaintiff's reading of the statute is awévd and appears to be contrary to the plain
meaning of § 102(3)(D), that ishat the language covers eithiose who solicit claims or
judgments for the purpose of collecting or wdwlicit the purchase of claims or judgments for
the purpose of collecting or attempting “by engagin or attempting to engage in collection
activity” relative to those claims or judgments. dtiner words, even if plaintiff is correct, the
Act’'s coverage requires that the entitygage in collection activity.

Plaintiff also argued iBradford and implicitly here alsothat LVNV does engage in
collection activity by (1) its reporting to crediéporting agencies, and (2) filing of collection
lawsuits as the named plaintiff to seek a judgiieoan collect. Plaintiff cited a host of cases
for the proposition that filing a collection lawsust collection activity, a largely unremarkable
assertion hardly subject to dispute, and LVNV doeisreally argue otherwas Plaintiff also has
argued that LVNV cannot insulate itself by hirindghets to file suit to collect its debts and that
Congress never intended that “a passive” depebavoid liability undethe FDCPA by simply
hiring a law firm to file suit. Even assung that a debt buyer cannimisulate itself from
FDCPA liability by hiring others to engage uollection activity, that does not answer the
guestion of whether the Tennessee Legislaitutended to require a debt buyer who does not
engage in collection activitiegself, but rather relies on ott®e to have a collection service

license.

14 plaintiff seems to assume that, because LVNV aesulelinquent accounts, it ‘lagits” those accounts. That

interpretation does not appear to be consistent with the statute. In other words, under the TCSA, an entity which
purchases debt is not necessarily engaged in the “sotioitaif debt. Rather, the act of solicitation is something
conducted by a “solicitor,” defined in the Act as “any individual who is employed by or under contract with a
collection service to solicit accounts or sell collection service forms or systems on its behalf.” Tenn. Code Ann. §
62-20-102(9).
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LVNV has relied heavily on the Clarificatiddtatement issued by the Board in January

2009. That statement, issuedtls collective opiniorof the Board rathethan pursuant to the
Board'’s rule making authoritgeeTenn. Code Ann. 8§ 62-20-115(b)(1), reads:

It is currently the opinion othe Tennessee Collection Service

Board that entities who purchaggdgments or other forms of

indebtedness will be deemed a Iteotion service” if they collect

or attempt to collect the debt or judgment subsequent to their

purchase of the debt or judgmeHtwever, entities who purchase

debt or judgments in the manndescribed above but who do not

collect or attempt to collect theurchased debt or judgment, but

rather assign collection activity relative to the purchased debt to a

licensed collection agency or a licensed attorney or law firm shall

not be deemed to be a “collection service.”
Tennessee Collection Service Boai@larification Statement of the Tennessee Collection
ServiceBoard Regarding Debt/Judgment Purchasers and ‘Passive’ Debt
Buyers http://www.tn.gov/regboards/collect/donents/ CSBCLARIFICATIONSTATEMENT-
REGARDINGDEBT.pdf. The Board reaffirmate Clarification Statement in May, 2012 and
stated that the statement “would currentlgnst as written.” Both Judge Collier and Judge
Varlan have given the Clarifiganh Statement significant weight light of its reaffirmation by
the Board. Yet, the undersigned has been relutdad so given the lackf analysis contained
in the Board’'s statement and the lack of formal action by the Board in promulgating the
statement, making it of little help in deternmgi the meaning of the Legislature’s enactment.
Second, the opinion of the Board as to the meawirige statute is far less important where the
statute does not contain technical terms, #sei€ase here, and where the agency’s interpretation

does not involve its own rules and regulations, father the construction and interpretation of

such statute.
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Under the unique circumstances of tluase, the Court is persuaded by LVNV's
argument and holds that an entity that does not engage in collection activities itself but relies on
licensed collection agencies and licensed attorneys to conduct those dCtimitied not be
licensed pursuant to the TCSA, and LVNV’s fadluo obtain the license does not constitute a
violation of the FDCPA. To th extent prior decisions ofahundersigned might conflict with
this opinion, they are now overrulé&d.

Several things have convinctite Court that LVNV is correct in this case as it argued in
Bradford First of all, the Couragrees with LVNV that LVNV has not “engaged” in collection
activity unless it has takepart in, or involved itlf directly in, the cokction activity and that
the licensing requirement applies only to thoses@es who actuallynvolve themselves in, or
take part in, the act of collecting. Second tBourt agrees with LVNV that, from a policy
standpoint, requiring LVNV to be licensed and reqddby the state accomplishes little in terms
of protecting debtors or clientsf collection services, where thentities that do have direct
interaction are licensed and staggulated. Indeed, the structure of the Act itself suggests that
its primary purpose is to assure the financiapomsibility of collectia service businesses to
protect clients who retain the services of a collection service business from a collection service
that is not financially sound.

This conclusion is supported by severaltbé TCSA’s requirements for collection
services, such as the requirement that anicgmp for a collection service license provide the

Board with a current personal corporate financial statement aadgurety bond or certificate of

15 Although not clear to the Court, this may be wihat Board means by a “passivéébt buyer, i.e. one that

undertakes no collection activity itself.
16 Both of the Court’s prior decisions RacedayandKing are distinguishable from this caggcedayon its facts
andKing procedurally. InRacedaythe defendants/counter-plaintiffs wetieectly involved in collection activity.

King, on the other hand, was before the Court on a motion to dismiss and the question was whether plaintiff had
sufficiently pled a cause of action, not whether a genaswe of material fact existed, as is the case here.
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deposit “conditioned that the applicant shall faithfully and truly perform all agreements entered
into with its clients accounting for the net prodeeof all collections iraccordance with this
chapter . . .,” seeTenn. Code Ann. 88 62-20-106(2) a(®)(A) and (B), and requiring an
applicant to meet a requirement of finanaiesponsibility and the maintenance of a regular
office and “bank accounts with sufficient fundsadit times to disburse amounts due clients.”
Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 62-20-107. Furthermore, T1@&SA provides that upon violation of the
conditions of the bond or certfite of deposit assigned, “thgured client may maintain an
action in the client's own name on the bond or tiedte of deposit of th collection service.”
Tenn. Code Ann. § 62-20-110.

Finally, to the extent the statute is agumus, the Court also agrees with LVNV as it
argued in Bradford that the statute shiou be construed in feor of LVNV under the
circumstances presented here. The TCSA igaatory statute and conta a criminal sanction
for a willful violation of the statute or anyle lawfully promulgated by the BoardSeeTenn.
Code Ann. § 62-20-123 (making such violatio@lass C misdemeanor punishable, according to
Tennessee Code Annotated § 401334e)(3), by a term of impasment of not more than 30
days or a fine not to exceed $50.00 or both). ToerCagrees that, in th&tuation, the rule of
lenity requires that the statute benstrued in favor of the defendanftate v. Marshall319
S.W. 3d 558, 563 (Tenn. 201%).

I. Whether there is an issue ofact regarding vicarious liability?

Even though this Court has concluded thatahiero genuine issue of material fact for
trial and even though the plaintitiiled to address the issuehier Response, this Court will still

decide the vicarious liability issue. THZourt finds the reasoning and the cases cita/liite

" Due to this Court’s ruling, this Court need not discuss whether the Bona Fide Error defenseeayspliésgr this
licensure issue.
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persuasive. 2013 WL 5936679, at *10-11. It a@ppeto be undisputed that LVNV hired
Resurgent and Nathan to carry out debtemtibn efforts. In addition, Griffin was an
“Authorized Representative for LVNV.” [Doc. 3} Therefore, for the reasons statedMhite
this Court concludes that LVNV may be heldbie for any of Nathan’s or Griffin’'s FDCPA
violations. As state above, hewer, there are no violations, gus issue is actually moot.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, plairgifflotion for Partial Summary Judgment, [Doc.
57], is DENIED, and defendants’ Motion fSBummary Judgment, [Doc. 60], is GRANTED.

ENTER:

s/J. RONNIE GREER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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